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 PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

As explained in earlier briefs submitted to this Court, Plaintiff/Relator Jeffrey D. 

Feldstein, M.D. (“Dr. Feldstein”) has commenced this action against Defendants Organon, Inc. 

(“Organon”) and Schering-Plough, Inc. (“Schering”) (collectively, the “Defendants”) pursuant to 

the provisions of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq. (the “FCA”).  Dr. Feldstein 

essentially alleges that Organon failed to disclose information about a drug known as Raplon to 

the United States Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) both before and after the drug 

received FDA approval, and that Organon’s conduct ultimately led to needless suffering, 

fatalities, and countless instances of Medicare/Medicaid fraud.  

Defendants have responded by filing motions to dismiss the Amended Complaint and to 

supplement the record of that motion with a certification they erroneously assert establishes that 

Dr. Feldstein’s FCA claim lacks merit.  Dr. Feldstein has vigorously opposed the relief sought by 

the Defendants and both motions remain pending before this Court.   

Not content with simply permitting this Court to resolve the issues presented by the 

pending motions, Defendants have filed yet another motion in which they seek sanctions against 

Dr. Feldstein.  Their motion is based on the fallacy that a certification Dr. Feldstein recently 

submitted to this Court (the “2008 Certification”) conflicts with the substance of a 2003 

certification (the “2003 Certification”) he filed in a prior state court action (the “State Court 

Action”) against Organon.  He commenced the State Court Action after Organon terminated his 

employment in violation of the Conscientious Employee Protection Act (“CEPA”), N.J.S.A. 

34:19-1 to 8.   

Defendants’ overly literal reading of isolated paragraphs in the 2003 and 2008 

Certifications is nothing more than an attempt to create material inconsistencies where none exist 

and, in fact, blatantly ignores statements made in each that demonstrate their consistency.  In his 
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opposition to Defendants’ motion to supplement, Dr. Feldstein has already indicated why those 

two Certifications are not materially inconsistent, as well as the reasons the alleged 

inconsistencies identified by the Defendants are irrelevant to this litigation.  (“Opp. Brief”).1  

Nevertheless, even after being provided with Dr. Feldstein’s explanation, Defendants 

persist in their baseless demand for sanctions pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11 

(“Rule 11”) and this Court’s inherent authority.  Court-imposed sanctions are warranted only in 

exceptional circumstances, which are not implicated in this case.  Absolutely nothing in the 

record gives rise to even an inference that Dr. Feldstein improperly commenced this action for 

the purpose of harassing the Defendants, causing delay or creating unnecessary litigation 

expenses.  Moreover, Defendants’ assertion that Dr. Feldstein’s FCA claim is devoid of 

evidentiary support is absurd.  Not only has Dr. Feldstein repeatedly provided the Court with 

pleadings, briefs and certifications that explain both the factual and legal basis for his FCA 

claim, he has also submitted a copy of an internal e-mail between two senior personnel who 

worked on obtaining Raplon’s approval from the FDA, Dr. Jonathan Deutsch, Organon’s 

Director of Hospital Products, and Deborah Shapse, Organon’s Vice President of Medical 

Services, which unequivocally establishes that Organon and, in particular, its Head of Marketing, 

Michael Novinsky, sought to “downplay” and conceal critical safety information concerning 

Raplon from the FDA.  (Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 13-17.)  This is not a situation where sanctions 

are appropriate because a litigant has raised claims lacking any factual support or for a purpose 

other than having them fairly adjudicated on the merits.  

                                                 
1 “Opp. Brief” refers to the brief that Dr. Feldstein submitted in opposition to Defendants’ 

pending Motion to Supplement the Record on their Motion to Dismiss. 
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Finally, Defendants have asked this Court for the drastic sanction of dismissal even 

though they are fully aware that the 2003 and 2008 Certifications lack any pertinence to this case 

unless this Court first concludes the FCA’s public disclosure bar applies (which it does not) and 

this Court has not yet considered that issue.  For Defendants to request sanctions under these 

circumstances strongly suggests that they are misusing this motion as a means of intimidating 

Dr. Feldstein into voluntarily withdrawing the Amended Complaint so they can avoid a 

confrontation on the merits.  

For these reasons, Dr. Feldstein respectfully requests this Court to deny Defendants’ 

motion for sanctions in its entirety. 
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 STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Dr. Feldstein has already set forth the full factual background underlying this action in 

earlier pleadings, certifications and briefs filed with this Court.  For brevity’s sake, Dr. Feldstein 

will not repeat all of the facts pertinent to the merits of this case, and will instead focus only on 

what is necessary to dispose of Defendants’ present motion for sanctions. 

Dr. Feldstein commenced this action after learning Organon illegally withheld crucial 

safety information concerning a drug known as Raplon from doctors, patients and the FDA.  (See 

Amended Complaint ¶¶ 6, 23-24).  As a result of Organon’s decision to conceal this life-

threatening information, many patients suffered serious adverse events (“SAEs”) relating to 

Raplon and some even succumbed to a horrible death due to asphyxiation.  (Amended Complaint 

¶¶ 21-22).  Organon’s deception also caused the Federal Government to pay false and 

illegitimate claims in connection with Raplon’s use by Medicare and Medicaid patients.  

(Amended Complaint ¶ 23).  Schering has succeeded to Organon rights and liabilities and is thus 

required to answer for Organon’s’malfeasance.  (Amended Complaint ¶¶ 3, 32). 

Defendants have moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint and filed an untimely motion 

to supplement the record of that motion with the 2003 Certification Dr. Feldstein submitted in 

the State Court Action he brought against Organon for, among other things, CEPA violations.  

(See Docket Entry 17; MTS Brief).2  Dr. Feldstein has filed opposition to both motions and is 

awaiting their outcome. 

                                                 
2 “Docket” refers to the United States District Court’s Civil Case Docket for this action.  

“MTS Brief” refers to Defendants’ Brief in support of their Motion to Supplement the Record on 
Their Motion to Dismiss. 
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Defendants have now also moved for sanctions against Dr. Feldstein pursuant to Rule 11 

and the Court’s inherent authority because of their erroneous perception that the 2003 

Certification conflicts with the 2008 Certification Dr. Feldstein submitted in connection with this 

qui tam action. (MFS Brief).3  They claim sanctions are warranted because the 2003 Certification 

allegedly establishes that Dr. Feldstein did not learn of Organon’s wrongdoing with regard to 

Raplon until after his termination, while his 2008 Certification indicates he made that discovery 

prior to his termination.  (MFS, p.1).  They are wrong.  In any event, Defendants assert that the 

timing of Dr. Feldstein’s discovery is germane to his status as an “original source” under the 

FCA.  (MFS, p.1).  However, as stated in Dr. Feldstein’s prior brief opposing Defendants’ 

motion to supplement, this Court does not even conduct an original source analysis unless it first 

concludes that the FCA’s public disclosure bar applies.  (Opp. Brief, p. 10-11).  That is an issue 

the Court is currently considering in connection with Defendants’ other motions. 

Defendants’ assessment of the 2003 and 2008 Certifications is, at best, predicated on a 

misconception and, at worst, based on a lack of candor.  Defendants have failed to disclose to the 

Court that statements contained in both the 2003 and 2008 Certifications expressly indicate that 

Dr. Feldstein obtained knowledge bearing on Organon’s fraud during his employment with 

Organon.  (Opp. Brief, pp. 6-7).  The 2003 Certification unambiguously indicates that Dr. 

Feldstein acquired an understanding of Organon’s fraudulent conduct with respect to Raplon 

prior to his termination in May 2001, which is consistent with the 2008 Certification.  Dr. 

Feldstein specifically states in the 2003 Certification that “[o]n February 22, 2001, [he] realized 

that [his] supervisor on Arixtra, Dr. Deutsch, would not be sympathetic to [his] concerns about 

Defendants’ violations of ISSE [Industry Supported Scientific and Educational Activity] on 
                                                 

3 “MFS Brief” refers to Defendants’ Brief in support of their Motion for Sanctions. 
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Arixtra – he appeared to be violating ISSE on Raplon by the unauthorized review of speaker’s 

slides and suggestions upsetting the fair balance.”  (Opp. Brief, p. 6-7) (emphasis added).  Dr. 

Feldstein also certified in his 2003 Certification that he knew during his employment that Dr. 

Deutsch “had blamed 58 [Raplon-related] serious adverse events [SAEs], including five deaths, 

two of whom were children, on poor endotracheal tube insertion technique[,]” but he indicates 

that he did not confirm the inaccuracy of that statement until after his employment ended.  (Opp. 

Brief p.7).  The relevant allegations in the CEPA complaint he filed against Organon also 

demonstrate that he obtained information relating to the Raplon fraud before he was fired.  (Opp. 

Brief p.8). 

Defendants obviously knew that the CEPA complaint and 2003 Certification contained 

these statements before filing this motion because they were in possession of both.  Organon 

even argued in a brief filed in connection with the State Court Action that Dr. Feldstein’s CEPA 

claim and this qui tam action were related because each “stemm[ed] from allegations that 

Plaintiff learned of alleged improper and fraudulent activities by Defendants concerning both 

Arixtra and Raplon during his employment.” (Opp. Brief, p.8) (emphasis in original).4 

Although they deny it, it clearly appears Defendants have misinterpreted Dr. Feldstein’s 

statement in his 2003 Certification that he discussed Raplon issues with a “former employee” 

following his termination as proof that he did not possess information about Raplon until after 

his separation from Organon.  Defendants evidently misread the 2003 Certification, believing the 

                                                 
4 Dr. Feldstein worked on Arixtra, an anti-thrombotic drug, and alleged in the State Court 

Action that Dr. Deutsch attempted to cover up safety data from the FDA relating to bleeding, not 
unlike what Dr. Feldstein understood Dr. Deutsch was suggesting in the e-mail concerning 
Raplon.  (See Paragraphs 17 and 18 of the CEPA complaint attached as Exhibit B to the 
Certification of Michael B. Himmel, Esq., which was submitted in support of Defendants’ 
Motion to Supplement the Record on Their Motion to Dismiss.) 
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“former employee” to be Dr. Sack, the physician from whom Dr. Feldstein acquired the key e-

mail during his employment.  (Opp. Brief, pp. 7-8).  However, Robert Plona, who once served as 

Organon’s Brand Manager for Anesthetics (including Raplon), was the “former employee” 

referenced in the 2003 Certification and not Dr. Sack, who was still employed by Organon.  Dr. 

Feldstein was already in possession of the damning e-mail when his conversations with Plona 

occurred.  (Id.) 

Other statements in Dr. Feldstein’s 2003 Certification were merely intended to convey 

that he did not discover the full extent of Organon’s “cover-up” until after his termination.  (Opp. 

Brief, p. 7).  At that time, Dr. Feldstein spoke with Plona concerning Raplon.  (Id.).  During his 

conversations with Plona, Dr. Feldstein learned additional details about the clinical trials and 

marketing efforts associated with Raplon, as well as the controversy amongst the clinical 

investigators at the Dallas meeting referenced in the “smoking gun” e-mail.  (Opp. Brief, p. 7).  

Dr. Feldstein’s conversations with Plona further confirmed his belief that the e-mail he obtained 

during his employment evidenced fraud, which is why Dr. Feldstein provided a copy to the 

Federal Government and filed this qui tam action.5  (Id.) 

The bottom line is that Dr. Feldstein has certified in this litigation that he received the 

“smoking gun” e-mail at issue and contacted the FDA about Arixtra and Raplon prior to his 

termination by Organon and those statements are entirely consistent with the 2003 Certification. 

(Opp. Brief, p.6).  Dr. Feldstein’s statement in his 2003 Certification that he did not complain to 

                                                 
5 The 2003 Certification also indicates that Dr. Feldstein confirmed the Raplon cover-up 

in June 2001.  Dr. Feldstein believes his meetings with Plona and the Government occurred in or 
about late May 2001, but they could have occurred a few weeks later.  (Opp. Brief p., 7 n.6).  In 
any event, the exact timing of those meetings is inconsequential because these dates are 
irrelevant to the “original source” issue as the undisputed evidence establishes Dr. Feldstein 
acquired the e-mail and other information prior to his termination. 
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his superiors or anyone else about Raplon merely referred to the fact that he did not raise the 

issue with anyone in a position of authority at Organon.  (Opp. Brief, p.6).  The 2003 

Certification did not address his communications with regulatory authorities, such as the FDA.  

He also later learned that, as a result of the Dallas meeting, and prior to Raplon’s launch, 

Organon approached Dr. Carol Hirshman, an anesthesiology professor at Columbia University, 

to conduct a mechanism-of-action study to determine the cause of the SAE’s associated with 

Raplon.  After she agreed, Organon paradoxically failed to authorize the study and dropped the 

matter.  (Amended Complaint, ¶ 18.)  Finally, the fact that Dr. Feldstein did not confirm the full 

extent of Organon’s misconduct until after his termination in no way diminishes the significance 

of the e-mail and other information he acquired during his employment.6  

Based on these facts and the reasons that follow, Dr. Feldstein respectfully asserts that 

Defendants’ motion for sanctions is without merit and should be denied in its entirety.   

                                                 
6 In the reply brief Defendants filed in connection with their motion to supplement, 

Defendants attempt to portray this “smoking gun” e-mail as “innocuous” even though it clearly 
evidences that Organon personnel discussed “downplaying” life-threatening information relevant 
to the FDA’s decision to grant or withhold approval for Raplon.  That is, in fact, what happened.  
Even though an Organon executive recommended in the e-mail that a treatment protocol for the 
SAEs be put into place before the drug’s launch, that never occurred as confirmed by Raplon’s 
package insert.  Instead, Organon allowed the drug to hit the market without doctors being 
warned of these SAEs and without doctors being prepared to treat the SAEs if they occurred.  
How Defendants can claim with a straight face that this critical document is not an essential 
element of the FCA claim or was not obtained through Dr. Feldstein’s direct efforts is 
perplexing. 
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 LEGAL ARGUMENT 

I. DEFENDANTS’ RULE 11 MOTION SHOULD BE DENIED 
BECAUSE THERE IS NO BASIS WARRANTING 
DISMISSAL OF THE AMENDED COMPLAINT OR THE 
IMPOSITION OF MONETARY SANCTIONS AGAINST DR. 
FELDSTEIN 

Defendants have failed to demonstrate that the 2003 and 2008 Certifications contain any 

material inconsistencies that would warrant dismissal of the Amended Complaint or the 

imposition of monetary sanctions.  As explained below, Dr. Feldstein commenced this action for 

a proper purpose and has provided ample evidence to support his claim.  He is not required to 

prove every facet of his case at this juncture to avoid dismissal or lesser sanctions under Rule 11 

or this Court’s inherent authority.    

A. Defendants Have Failed To Demonstrate That Dr. 
Feldstein Violated Rule 11 By Filing The Amended 
Complaint Or 2008 Certification For An Improper 
Purpose Or That His Claim Lacks Evidentiary Support 

This Court should deny Defendants’ motion for sanctions because they have totally failed 

to demonstrate that Dr. Feldstein filed either the Amended Complaint or the 2008 Certification 

for an improper purpose, or that the FCA claim asserted in this action lacks evidentiary support.  

Rule 11 provides, in pertinent part, as follows: 

(b) Representations to the Court. By presenting to the court a 
pleading, written motion, or other paper — whether by signing, 
filing, submitting, or later advocating it — an attorney or 
unrepresented party certifies that to the best of the person's 
knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry 
reasonable under the circumstances: 

(1) it is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to 
harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of 
litigation; 

* * * 
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(3) the factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if 
specifically so identified, will likely have evidentiary support after 
a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery[.] 

[Fed. R. Civ. P. 11]. 

“Rule 11 is intended for only exceptional circumstances."  See Gaiardo v. Ethyl Corp., 

835 F.2d 479, 483 (3d Cir. 1987).  The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit has 

admonished that “when issues are close, the invocation of Rule 11 borders on the abusive.”  Id. 

at 483.  Rule 11 was never intended “to be used routinely when the parties disagree about the 

correct resolution of a matter in litigation.”  Id. at 483 (quoting Morristown Daily Record, Inc. v. 

Graphic Communications Union Local 8N, 832 F.2d 31, 32 n.1 (3d Cir. 1987)).  “A court 

considering the imposition of sanctions must bear in mind that such sanctions are to be imposed 

only . . . ‘where the claim or motion is patently unmeritorious or frivolous.’” Ritter v. Clinton 

House Rest., 64 F.Supp.2d 374, 396 (D.N.J. 1999)(quoting Dura Systems, Inc. v. Rothbury Invs., 

Ltd., 886 F.2d 551, 556 (3d Cir. 1989)). 

With respect to factual contentions “[Rule 11] sanctions may not be imposed unless a 

particular allegation is utterly lacking in support.’”  E. Gluck Corp. v. Rothenhaus, 252 F.R.D. 

175 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (emphasis added) (citing Storey v. Cello Holdings, LLC, 347 F.3d 370, 388 

(2d Cir. 2003)); see also Davis v. Carl, 906 F.2d 533 (11th Cir. 1990) (“Rule 11 is intended to 

deter claims with no factual or legal basis at all; creative claims, coupled even with ambiguous or 

inconsequential facts, may merit dismissal, but not punishment.”) (emphasis added); Folkes v. 

New York College of Osteopathic Medicine, 214 F. Supp.2d 273, 294-95 (E.D.N.Y. 2002) 

(finding no Rule 11 violation in part because “although the only evidence put forth by Plaintiff 

consist[ed] of her own testimony that the alleged events occurred, and that evidence hinge[d] on 

a determination of credibility, it [was] evidence.”).  
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Even in situations warranting Rule 11 sanctions, courts are cautioned to impose only the 

“minimum [sanction] that will serve to adequately deter the undesirable behavior.” Doering v. 

Union County Bd. of Chosen Freeholders, 857 F.2d 191, 194 (3d Cir. 1988).  More importantly, 

the Third Circuit has held that a court “may impose sanctions on its own initiative” when a 

litigant files a Rule 11 motion as a “tactic of intimidation and harassment.”  Gaiardo, 835 F.2d at 

484.  Thus, litigants who choose to file groundless Rule 11 motions are themselves subject to 

sanctions imposed sua sponte. 

Here, it is readily apparent that Defendants’ motion for sanctions against Dr. Feldstein is 

without any basis.  Nothing in the record suggests that Dr. Feldstein filed either the Amended 

Complaint or the 2008 Certification (or anything else for that matter) for an improper purpose.  

Defendants can point to nothing in the record indicating Dr. Feldstein wishes to harass the 

Defendants, delay the proceedings or increase litigation costs.  On the contrary, Dr. Feldstein 

seeks to have this Court consider his FCA claim on its merits and in as expeditious a manner as 

possible.   

Furthermore, the record more than adequately demonstrates that Dr. Feldstein has 

evidentiary support for the allegations raised in his Amended Complaint.  He has repeatedly set 

forth the factual basis for this qui tam action in multiple pleadings, briefs and certifications, and 

has provided this Court with an e-mail and other evidence indicating that Organon “downplayed” 

Raplon’s dangers to obtain approval from the FDA which, in turn, led to fatalities and the 

payment of false claims by Medicare and Medicaid.   

Defendants’ attempt to assail Dr. Feldstein’s credibility by claiming that the 2003 and 

2008 Certifications are inconsistent fails because Dr. Feldstein has explained, both in this brief 

and the one filed in opposition to Defendants’ motion to supplement, why those Certifications 
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are indeed consistent in all material respects.  Defendants’ refusal to accept his explanation does 

not translate into a justification for imposing sanctions, especially the ultimate sanction of 

dismissal sought by Defendants.    

Moreover, Defendants’ assertion that the 2003 and 2008 Certifications differ materially is 

incredible considering that both explicitly indicate that Dr. Feldstein received information about 

Raplon before his employment with Organon ended.  In addition, Dr. Feldstein’s 2008 

Certification confirms he received the “smoking gun” e-mail at issue in this litigation during his 

employment with Organon.  The 2008 Certification also indicates that he contacted the FDA 

about Arixtra and Raplon prior to his termination.  Although Dr. Feldstein indicates in his 2003 

Certification that he did not report any misconduct to anyone in authority at Organon, it simply 

does not address his communications with FDA officials.  Finally, the 2003 Certification also 

indicates that Dr. Feldstein learned additional details about Organon’s cover-up after his 

termination from another former employee of Organon, Robert Plona.  These facts, combined 

with the “smoking gun” e-mail, provide more than a sufficient evidentiary basis for his FCA 

claim.   

Defendants’ literal reading of isolated portions of the 2003 Certification does not present 

the Court with a complete picture and renders Rule 11 sanctions inappropriate.  See Navarro-

Ayala v. Hernandez-Colon, 3 F.3d 464, 467 (1st Cir. 1993) (“Rule 11 neither penalizes 

overstatement nor authorizes a literal reading of each factual statement.”).  Dr. Feldstein has 

provided evidentiary support for his allegations and that is all that is required to avoid Rule 11 

sanctions.   

In addition, Defendants have requested a sanction that is completely inappropriate.  

Defendants seek dismissal of the Amended Complaint as a sanction for the alleged discrepancies 
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contained in the 2003 and 2008 Certifications when they know those Certifications are irrelevant 

unless and until this Court concludes that the FCA’s public disclosure bar applies.  Whether Dr. 

Feldstein learned of the fraud before or after his termination is of no moment in the absence of 

the public disclosure bar.   

In sum, Defendants lack any basis for asserting that Dr. Feldstein filed the Amended 

Complaint or 2008 Certification for an improper purpose or without any evidentiary support and, 

thus, have no basis for demanding that this Court dismiss the Amended Complaint or impose 

monetary sanctions.  It would seem that Defendants have filed this motion for the purpose of 

coercing Dr. Feldstein into dismissing his FCA claim so this Court will be foreclosed from any 

further inquiry into Organon’s heinous conduct. 

Accordingly, Defendants’ motion for sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 should be denied in 

its entirety.   

B. Defendants Have Failed To Articulate A Legitimate 
Basis For This Court To Impose Sanctions Pursuant To 
Its Inherent Authority   

Defendants next claim that this Court should impose sanctions pursuant to its inherent 

authority even if it declines to impose them under Rule 11.  “[A] trial court should consider 

invoking its inherent sanctioning powers only where no sanction established by the Federal 

Rules or a pertinent statute is ‘up to the task.’”  Klein v. Stahl GMBH & Co. Maschinefabrik, 

185 F.3d 98, 108 (3d Cir. 1999) (citing to Chambers v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 50 (1991)).  

The Federal Rules are not ‘up to the task’ only “when they would not provide a district court 

with the authority to sanction all of the conduct deserving of sanction.”  Id. at 110.  As stated 
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throughout this brief, Dr. Feldstein has not engaged in any conduct deserving of sanctions, much 

less the severe sanction of dismissal.7 

In Klein, the plaintiff filed a products liability action against two defendants after she 

suffered injuries while using a commercial printing machine.  Id. at 101.  The plaintiff 

subsequently submitted an affidavit in which she indicated that the accident occurred after her 

hand made contact “with the upper slitter shaft” located on the machine.  Id. at 101-02.  Her 

affidavit surprised the defendants who had believed that plaintiff was injured when she came into 

contact with the “lower slitter shaft,” and rendered moot a summary judgment they had filed.  Id. 

at 102.  However, the plaintiff later admitted that she did not know “with any certainty exactly 

where at the output end of the machine [her] injury occurred.”  Id. at 105.  The magistrate judge 

ultimately concluded that the plaintiff was judicially estopped from altering her story.  Id. at 105.  

On appeal, the Third Circuit rejected the judge’s determination and remanded the matter for 

consideration of whether a less drastic sanction (if any) might be appropriate.  Id. at 111.  The 

Third Circuit Court of Appeals stated that it was inappropriate for the judge to have invoked his 

inherent authority to impose the estoppel sanction based solely on the plaintiff’s assertion of 

inconsistent positions.  Id. 

                                                 
7 Defendants’ reliance on Poulis v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 747 F.2d 863 (3d Cir. 

1984) is misplaced.  Poulis involved the factors a court should consider when dismissing a 
complaint for failing to prosecute or disobeying court orders.  The case did not involve a 
situation where a party was requesting sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 or the Court’s inherent 
authority on the basis that a plaintiff’s claim was meritless.  The cases cited above provide this 
Court with the proper analytical framework for evaluating the present motion.  In any event, no 
sanction would be warranted even if this Court employed the factors identified in Poulis because 
Dr. Feldstein has diligently pursued this case and has presented this Court with sufficient 
evidence in support of his FCA claim.  Defendants attempt to evade consideration of the FCA 
claim on the merits should not be countenanced. 
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Here, unlike the plaintiff in Klein who without question asserted inconsistent positions, 

Dr. Feldstein’s 2003 and 2008 Certifications are not materially inconsistent and thus resort to 

any sanction is unjustified.  Moreover, as explained above, Dr. Feldstein’s conduct does not 

violate Rule 11 and the Defendants have offered no reason for this Court to take the extreme step 

of invoking its inherent authority in this matter.  Indeed, Rule 11 is certainly “up to the task” of 

dealing with the type of improper behavior in which Defendants erroneously allege that Dr. 

Feldstein engaged.  Moreover, Klein instructs that dismissal would be a draconian sanction even 

if Dr. Feldstein’s Certifications were indeed inconsistent because the lesser sanction of judicial 

estoppel is not even appropriate.  See also Montrose Med. Group Participating Sav. Plan v. 

Bulger, 243 F.3d 773, 782 (3d Cir. 2001)(holding “that it does not constitute bad faith to assert 

contrary positions in different proceedings when the initial claim was never accepted or adopted 

by a court.”).   

In sum, Dr. Feldstein has not filed this action for an improper purpose and has provided 

this Court with more than sufficient evidentiary support for his FCA claim.  There is no basis for 

a monetary sanction, much less dismissal of the entire action.  On the contrary, it appears that 

Defendants have filed this motion for the improper purposes of intimidating Dr. Feldstein and 

hampering fair consideration of their other pending motions.  Accordingly, Defendants’ motion 

for sanctions pursuant to either Rule 11 or this Court’s inherent powers should be denied.   
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 CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Defendants’ Motion for Sanction in its 

entirety.  

 COLE, SCHOTZ, MEISEL, 
FORMAN & LEONARD, P.A. 
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Relator, Jeffrey D. 
Feldstein 
 
 
By:  s/ Steven I. Adler  

Steven I. Adler 
DATED:  January 6, 2009 
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